



DISC GOLF NL

Bylaws

RATIFIED

Nov 24,

2021

AMENDED

Dec 6, 2022

Table of Contents

1. Name	2
2. Definitions	2
3. Mandate	2
4. Membership	3
5. General Meetings	3
6. Board of Directors	4
7. Executive Officers	5
7.2. The President	5
7.3. The Vice President	5
7.4. Financial Director	6
8.1 Board Members	6
8.1 Communications Director	6
8.2 Events Director	6
8.3 Member at Large (3-6 people)	6
9. Elections	7
10. Accounting	7
11. Dissolution Clause	7
12. Amendments	7

1. Name

1.1 The name of the organization shall be “Disc Golf Newfoundland and Labrador” (herein referred to as “the Association”, or “Disc Golf NL”)

2. Definitions

2.1 “AGM” means the Annual General Meeting, as defined in section 5.1

2.2 “Board” means the Board of Directors, as defined in section 6.

2.3 “Executive” means officers of the association as defined in section 7.

2.4 “Member” means any person who meets the requirements defined in sections 4.1 and 4.2

2.5 “Finance Committee” means a standing committee of the Board that reviews the financial affairs of Disc Golf NL

2.6 “General Meeting” means the AGM and/or a meeting between the Board and the membership

2.7 “Board Meeting” means a meeting involving only the members of the board

2.8 “Quorum” refers to the minimum number of voters required to allow for voting to take place

2.9 “Director” means a member of the Board

2.10 “Chief Administrator of the Association” means the President, or Vice-President if the President is absent. The President has the power to designate any board member as Chief Administrator of the Association as per section 7.2.5

3. Mandate

3.1 To serve as the governing body of the sport of disc golf in Newfoundland and Labrador

3.2 To promote the growth and development of the sport of disc golf throughout Newfoundland and Labrador, including, but not limited to the promotion of the installation of temporary or permanent disc golf courses in Newfoundland and Labrador.

3.3 To provide a means to facilitate open and continuous communication within the disc golf community.

3.4 To provide guidance on how ongoing activities of the sport of disc golf are organized, including, but not limited to overseeing competitions, developing and disseminating educational programs, and serving as a medium for the exchange of information.

3.5 To transact all other lawful business for which non-profit organizations may be incorporated under the laws of Newfoundland and Labrador. Specifically, The Corporations Act, R.S.N.L. 1990, c. C-36 as amended from time to time.

3.6 To join and comply with all aspects of any sport organization which may be beneficial to the members of Disc Golf NL.

3.7 To obtain and manage the necessary finances, personnel, and equipment to achieve the main goals of Disc Golf NL, when possible.

4. Membership

4.1 Membership to the Association shall be open to all persons on condition that they have paid their annual membership dues and uphold the spirit of the game. The amount of the membership dues shall be determined annually by the Board of Directors.

4.2 A member in good standing is one that has paid their annual membership dues for the given year and is otherwise wholly compliant with these bylaws.

4.3 Each member in good standing, who will be 18 years or older during the current calendar year, shall have one vote in matters requiring a vote by the membership.

4.4 The Board of Directors may, by three quarters majority vote, suspend the membership of any member. They may also recommend to the members at a general meeting for the expulsion of that member for behaviour likely to bring discredit to the Association. The expulsion of a member shall not be valid unless confirmed by a three quarters majority vote of a quorum at a general meeting. The person who is the subject of the proposed resolution for expulsion shall be given an opportunity to be heard at the general meeting before the resolution is put to a vote.

5. General Meetings

5.1 Once a year, an Annual General Meeting (AGM) of members shall be held in the province of Newfoundland & Labrador at a time and place as determined by the Board of Directors.

5.2 In addition to the AGM, other General Meetings may be called at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

5.3 General Meetings may also be called by a petition signed by at least 5% of members in good standing, presented to the Board of Directors.

5.4 Notice of all General Meetings will be deemed to be served to members by electronic notification (e.g., the newsletter, social media), not less than fourteen days prior to the meeting.

5.5 The presence, in person or in proxy, of the lesser of 10% of the number of Association Members or 20 Association Members shall constitute a quorum for a general meeting.

5.6 Any member entitled to vote at a General Meeting or, in any action taken without a meeting, may authorize another person to vote for them by proxy. A proxy shall be in writing and signed, by hand or electronically, by the member. The proxy must be delivered to the Chief Administrator of the Association prior to the meeting and shall be valid only for the meeting named therein. A reminder of a member's proxy rights shall be included in any notice of any members' meeting.

6. Board of Directors

6.1 At each Annual General Meeting, the members shall elect a committee of representatives, which shall be called the Board of Directors.

6.2 The Board shall consist of not less than four (4) and no more than twelve (12) members in good standing. A Director must be 18 years of age or older.

6.3 A Director may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board, preferably with two weeks' notice.

6.4 The duties of the Board shall be to manage the affairs of the Association, to determine policies for the good of the Association in accordance with these bylaws, and to implement the execution of these policies.

6.5 The Board shall supervise the expenditure of the Association's funds.

6.6 The Board shall have board meetings at least six times per annum, at a time and place as determined by the Board.

6.7 Any Director may call a board meeting.

6.8 Notice of a board meeting shall be served to all directors not less than seven days prior to the meeting.

6.9 In the case of an emergency board meeting, which is called at the discretion of the Disc Golf NL executive with less than seven days' notice, Board members are expected to make all reasonable attempts to attend such meetings.

6.10 Any member of the Board may authorize another Director to vote for them

by proxy at a board meeting, or in any action taken without a meeting. A proxy shall be in writing and signed, by hand or electronically, by the member. Such a proxy must be delivered to the Chief Administrator of the Association prior to the meeting or action and shall be valid only for the meeting named therein. A reminder of a member's proxy rights shall be included in any notice of any members' meeting.

6.11 A board meeting of which is not less than one half (50%) of the directors are present (either physically, via real-time electronic communication, or by proxy) shall constitute a quorum.

6.12 Any member of the Board, including members of the Executive Committee, may be removed from office at any time by a three quarters (75%) vote of the Board.

6.13 If a seat on the Board is vacant after the AGM or is vacated between AGMs, whether by the resignation or the removal of a member, the vacancy may be filled by the Board with a majority vote. Otherwise, directors may only be elected by the membership at an AGM or Special General Meeting.

6.14 The proportion of board members named in the manner described in 6.13 must not exceed one third of the number of directors elected at the previous AGM.

7. Executive Officer Roles

7.1 Members shall elect executive officers of the association who shall carry out the day-to-day operation of the Association. These officers shall be the President, Vice President, and Financial Director.

7.2 The President

7.2.1 Shall serve as chairperson of the Board.

7.2.2 Shall be the chief executive officer of the Association. Contracts and documents requiring the signature of the Association shall be signed by the President and shall be binding on the Association.

7.2.3 Shall exercise general supervision and control over the officers and business of the Association.

7.2.4 Shall chair the AGM and any meetings of the Board.

7.2.5 The President has the power to designate, at their discretion, a member of the Board who shall represent the Association to all granting bodies and represent the Association in all correspondence on a provincial level.

7.2.6 Shall prepare a report to the membership at the Annual General Meeting.

7.2.7 Shall hold no other executive position within the association.

7.3 The Vice President

7.3.1 Shall carry out the duties of the President in their absence, or in the event of their inability or refusal to act; and when so acting, shall have all the powers and restrictions of the President.

7.3.2 Shall assist the President in the fulfilment of their duties.

7.3.3. Shall serve notice of Board meetings to the Directors.

7.3.4 Shall serve notice of all General Meetings to members of The Association.

7.3.5 Shall record and keep the minutes of all meetings and distribute said minutes within seven days to all Board members.

7.3.6 Shall record and keep the minutes of all meetings and distribute said minutes within seven days to all Board members.

7.3.7 Shall produce an agenda at least 48 hours prior to each board meeting prior to the meetings.

7.3.8 Shall maintain records of all voting items.

7.3.9 Shall oversee documentation management of the Association.

7.4 Financial Director

7.4.1 Shall have the care and custody of all funds and keep accurate, detailed accounts of all receipts and disbursements.

7.4.2 Shall present a report on the financial affairs of the Association at the AGM.

7.4.3 Shall be responsible for drafting the annual budget for the Association which is then subject to approval of the Board.

7.4.4 Shall chair the Finance Committee.

8.1 Board Member Roles

8.1 Communications Director

8.1.1 Shall ensure that any news, schedules, statistics, results, photos, notices of events, or other information relevant to the Association are posted on the association website, newsletter, or social media as appropriate.

8.1.2 Shall maintain and utilize communication platforms of the Association.

8.2 Events Director

8.2.1 Shall oversee the organization and running of Disc Golf NL events.

8.2.2 Shall organize regional and provincial qualifying adult tournaments.

8.3 Director of Membership

8.3.1 Shall maintain membership records and benefits.

8.3.2 Shall be the main contact person for Disc Golf NL members.

8.3.3 Shall promote membership and benefits for members

8.4 Member at Large (2-5 people)

8.4.1 Assist the executive in the running of any programming within Disc Golf NL

8.4.2 Assist the other directors in the execution of their roles

8.4.3 Perform other duties as the bylaws or the board of directors may prescribe

9. Elections

9.1 Elections for the Board shall be held annually at the AGM. Elections shall be held by secret ballot.

9.2 The Directors shall be individually elected by the membership.

9.3 The committees shall be made up of an elected committee leader from the Board, other board members and volunteers from the community at large.

10. Accounting

10.1 All accounts opened in the name of Disc Golf NL must have a minimum of three signing officers drawn from the Executive Committee.

10.2 All disbursement of funds shall require the signature of at least two signing officers.

10.3 All non-budgeted expenditures of the Association must be approved by the Finance Committee.

11 Dissolution Clause

11.1 In the event Disc Golf NL must dissolve or cease to operate, remaining assets held by Disc Golf NL, after payment of its liabilities, will be distributed in a manner agreed upon by the Board in consultation with member representatives.

11.2 If assets cannot be distributed to Disc Golf NL membership, a donation will be made to one or more recognized not-for-profit organizations operating in Newfoundland and Labrador, as chosen by the Board. Preference will be given to not-for-profits that assist in the development of Disc Golf in Newfoundland and Labrador.

12. Amendments

12.1 Amendments to these by-laws may be made at any General Meeting or AGM and require a two-thirds majority vote.

12.2 Any member may propose an amendment to these by-laws, to be voted upon.